
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA 

FORT LAUDERDALE DIVISION 

 

JASON GARSON, 
 
 Plaintiff,      Case No.  
 
v. 
 
PORTFOLIO RECOVERY  
ASSOCIATES, LLC, 
 
 Defendant. 
     / 

 

DEFENDANT’S NOTICE OF REMOVAL 

 Defendant, Portfolio Recovery Associates LLC, by and through its undersigned counsel 

and pursuant to Title 28, United States Codes, §§1331, 1441, and 1446, hereby files this Notice of 

Removal, and in support thereof, states as follows: 

1. On or about October 17, 2022, Plaintiff initiated an action against Defendant in the 

County Court of the Seventeenth Judicial District in and for Broward County, Florida, Civil 

Division, Case Number 2022-CC-006043.  A true and correct copy of the Broward County Clerk 

of Court’s civil docket page is attached hereto.  

2. The Summons and Complaint were served via process server on Defendant’s 

Registered Agent on October 19, 2022.  True and correct copies of the Summons, Complaint, and 

all other process and pleadings served upon Defendant in this cause (except discovery) are attached 

hereto.   

3. The Complaint alleges that Defendant violated the Fair Debt Collections Practices 

Act (hereinafter “FDCPA”), 15 U.S.C. §§ 1692, et seq. in its dealings with Plaintiff.   

4. “The district courts shall have original jurisdiction of all civil actions arising under 
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the Constitution, laws, or treaties of the United States.”  28 U.S.C. § 1331.  As such, the United 

States District Courts have original jurisdiction over Plaintiff’s FDCPA claims, as they arise under 

the Constitution, laws or treaties of the United States. Id. 

5. Defendant is entitled to remove Plaintiffs’ FDCPA claims to this Court pursuant to 

28 U.S.C. § 1441(a), which states: 

Except as otherwise expressly  provided by  Act  of Congress, any civil action 
brought in a State court of which the district courts of the United States have 
original jurisdiction, may be removed by the defendant or the defendants, to the 
district court of the United States for the district and division embracing the 
place where such action is pending. 
 
6. Accordingly, Defendant is entitled to remove Plaintiff’s FDCPA claims to this 

Court because this Court has original jurisdiction over these claims and the state court action filed 

by Plaintiff is currently pending in this District and Division. 28 U.S.C. § 1441(a). 

7. A true and correct copy of this Notice of Removal was filed with the Clerk of the 

United States District Court within thirty (30) days after service of the Complaint upon Defendant. 

28 U.S.C. § 1446(b).  

8. The Notice of Removal attached hereto will be promptly served on all adverse 

parties and filed with the Clerk of the State Court in accordance with 28 U.S.C. § 1446(d).  

WHEREFORE, Defendant respectfully requests that this case proceed in this Court as an 

action properly removed to it.  
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I HEREBY CERTIFY that on November 8, 2022 a true and correct copy of this document 

was electronically filed via the Court’s CM/ECF Filing System. I further certify that this document 

was served via email on the following: 

Thomas Patti, Esq. 
Victor Zabaleta, Esq. 
Patti Zabaleta Law Group 
3323 NW 55th Street 
Fort Lauderdale, FL 33309 
tom@pzlg.legal 
victor@pzlg.legal 
 
 
 

 

 

s/ Robert E. Sickles, Esq.   

Robert E. Sickles, Esq. 
Florida Bar No. 167444 
robert.sickles@dinsmore.com 
DINSMORE & SHOHL LLP 

201 North Franklin Street, Suite 3050 
Tampa, FL 33602 
Phone: (813) 543-9848 
Counsel for Defendant 
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Filing # 156932883 E-Filed 09/07/2022 03:37:45 PM 

IN THE COUNTY COURT OF THE 17TH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT 
IN AND FOR BROWARD COUNTY, FLORIDA 

Case No. 
JASON GARSON, 

Plaintiff, 
V. 

JURY TRIAL DEMANDED 
PORTFOLIO RECOVERY ASSOCIATES 
LLC, 

Defendant. 
/ 

COMPLAINT 

Plaintiff Jason Garson ("Plaintiff') sues Portfolio Recovery Associates LLC ("Defendant") 

for violations of the Fair Debt Collection Practices Act. 

NATURE OF ACTION 

1. The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau ("CFPB") is the administrative agency 

authorized to exercise its authorities under Federal consumer financial law to administer, enforce, 

and otherwise implement the provisions of Federal consumer financial law. See 12 U.S.C. § 5512; 

15 U.S.C. § 16921(d); see also 12 C.F.R. § 1006.1(a). 

2. On November 30, 2020, the CFPB issued their final rule to revise Regulation F 

("Reg F") of which contains, among other things, the CFPB's most recent interpretation of the Fair 

Debt Collection Practices Act ("FDCPA") 

3. Reg F addresses, among other things, communications in connection with debt 

collection and prohibitions on harassment or abuse, false or misleading representations, and unfair 

practices in debt collection. See generally 85 FR 76734. 

4. With respect to the purpose of Reg F, it is stated "[Reg F] carries out the purposes 

of the FDCPA, which include eliminating abusive debt collection practices by debt collectors, 
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ensuring that debt collectors who refrain from using abusive debt collection practices are not 

competitively disadvantaged, and promoting consistent State action to protect consumers against 

debt collection abuses. 12 C.F.R. § 1006.1(b). Moreover, Reg F, "prescribes requirements to 

ensure that certain features of debt collection are disclosed fully, accurately, and effectively 

to consumers in a manner that permits consumers to understand the costs, benefits, and risks 

associated with debt collection, in light of the facts and circumstances." Id. (emphasis added). 

5. This is an individual action under the FDCPA arising from Defendant's violations 

of the FDCPA pursuant to Reg F. 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

6. This Court has subject matter jurisdiction over Plaintiff and Defendant 

(collectively, the "Parties"), because the cause of action arises within the jurisdiction of this Court 

and, thus, venue and jurisdiction are proper. 

7. This Court has personal jurisdiction over Defendant because Defendant is 

operating, present, and/or doing business within this jurisdiction and because the complained of 

conduct of Defendant occurred within Broward County, Florida. 

8. This Court has subject matter jurisdiction pursuant to Florida Rule of Civil 

Procedure 1.220 and Fla. Stat. § 26.012(2). The amount in controversy is greater than $8,000, but 

less than $15,000, exclusive of costs, interest, and attorneys' fees, and is otherwise within this 

Court's jurisdiction. 

9. Venue of this action is proper in this Court because, pursuant to Fla. Stat. § 47.011, 

et seg., the cause of action alleged below arose in Broward County Florida. 
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PARTIES 

10. Plaintiff is a natural person, and a citizen of the State of Florida, residing in Broward 

County, Florida. 

11. Defendant is a Delaware limited liability company, with its principal place of 

business located in Norfolk, Virginia. 

DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL 

12. Plaintiff, respectfully, demands a trial by jury on all counts and issues so triable. 

ALLEGATIONS 

13. On a date better known by Defendant, Defendant began attempting to collect a debt 

(the "Consumer Debt") from Plaintiff. 

14. The Consumer Debt is a"consumer financial product or service" within the 

meaning of 12 U.S.C. § 5481(5). 

15. The Consumer Debt is an obligation allegedly had by Plaintiff to pay money arising 

from an unsecured line of credit between the original creditor of the Consumer Debt, Citybank 

NA, and Plaintiff (the "Subject Service"). 

16. The Subject Service was primarily for personal, family, or household purposes. 

17. The Consumer Debt is a debt related to a consumer financial product and/or service 

because the Consumer Debt arises from the unsecured line of credit the original creditor extended 

to Plaintiff, whereby said unsecured line of creditor was for the personal benefit of Plaintiff, 

Plaintiff's family, and/or members of Plaintiff s household. 

18. The Consumer Debt is a consumer financial product pursuant to 12 U.S.C. § 

5481(15)(A)(i). 
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19. Defendant is a business entity engaged in the business of soliciting consumer debts 

for collection. 

20. Defendant is a business entity engaged in the business of collecting consumer debts. 

21. Defendant regtilarly collects or attempts to collect, directly or indirectly, debts 

owed or due or asserted to be owed or due another. 

22. Defendant is registered with the Florida Office of Financial Regulation as a 

"Consumer Collection Agency." 

23. Defendant's "Constuner Collection Agency" license number is CCA0900382. 

24. Defendant maintains all the records specitied in Riile 69V-180.080, Florida 

Administrative Code. 

25. The records specified by Rule 69V-180.080, Florida Administrative Code, of which 

Defendant does maintain, are current to within one week of the current date. 

26. Defendant maintains and keeps updated within seven (7) days the records required 

by Florida Administrative Code Rule 180.080(1), (3), (6), (7), (9), (10), and (11). 

27. Defendant has written policies and procedures for the secure handling of all 

consumer documents and information received in the course of collecting a debt from a consumer 

as required by Rule 69V-180.090(2). 

28. Defendant is a"debt collector" within the ineaning of 15 U.S.C. § 1692a(6). 

29. Defendant is a"person" within the meaning of Fla. Stat. § 559.72. 

30. On or about April 4, 2022, Defendant sent a collection letter to Plaintiff (the 

"Collection Letter") in an attenipt to collect the Consumer Debt. A copy of the Collection Letter 

is attached hereto as Exhibit "A." 
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31. The Collection Letter represents Defendant's initial communication with Plaintiff 

in connection with the collection of the Consumer Debt. 

32. Citybank NA is the original creditor of the Consumer Debt. 

33. Portfolio Recovery Associates LLC is the current creditor of the Consumer Debt. 

34. Defendant was required to provide "validation information" in the Collection 

Letter. See 12 C.F.R. § 1006.34(c). 

35. The "validation information" that Defendant was required to provide in the 

Collection Letter includes, but is not limited to, "information about the debt." See 12 C.F.R. § 

1006.34(c)(2). 

36. The "information about the debt" that Defendant was required to provide in the 

Collection Letter includes, but is not limited to, "the name of the creditor to whom the debt was 

owed on the itemization date," see 12 C.F.R. § 1006.34(c)(2)(iii), and "[t]he itemization date," see 

12 C.F.R. § 1006.34(c)(2)(vi) 

37. The "itemization date" used by Defendant in the Collection Letter in an attempt to 

comply with § 1006.34(c)(2)(vi) of Reg F was December 30, 2021. 

38. Defendant was required to identify the name of the creditor to whom the Consumer 

debt was owed on the itemization date in the Collection Letter. 

39. The Collection Letter fails to identify the name of the creditor to whom the 

Consumer debt was owed on the itemization date. 

40. The Collection Letter fails to identify the name of the creditor to whom the 

Consumer debt was owed on December 30, 2021. 
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COUNT 1 

VIOLATION OF 12 C.F.R. & 1006.34(c)(2)(iii) and 15 U.S.C. 1692e, 1692f, and 1692$! 

41. Plaintiff incorporates by reference ¶¶ 13 through 40 of this Complaint. 

42. Pursuant to § 1006.34 of Reg F, a debt collector must provide a consumer with the 

validation information required by § 1006.34(c) of Reg F. 

43. Pursuant to § 1006.34(c) of Reg F, a debt collector mzist provide certain validation 

information, of which includes, but is not limited to: (1) "debt collector communication 

disclosure;" (2) "information about the debt;" (3) "information about consumer protections;" and 

(4) "consumer-response information." 

44. Section 1006.34(c)(2) of Reg F, of which requires "information about the debt" to 

be disclosed, provides an explicit list information, of which includes, but is not limited to, "the 

name of the creditor to whom the debt was owed on the itemization date." 

45. As set forth above, Defendant was required to provide "the name of the creditor to 

whom the debt was owed on the itemization date" in the Collection Letter. The itemization date 

identified in the Collection Letter was December 30, 2021. The Collection Letter does not identify 

the name of the creditor to whom the debt was owed on December 30, 2021. 

46. Section 1692e of the FDCPA prohibits, among other things, "any false, deceptive, 

or misleading representation or means in connection with the collection of any debt." 15 U.S.C. § 

1692e. 

47. Section 1692e(2)(A) of the FDCPA explicitly prohibits "[t]he false representation 

of the character, amount, or legal status of any debt." 15 U.S.C. § 1692e(2). 

48. Section 1692f of the FDCPA prohibits, among other things, "unfair or 

unconscionable means to collect or attempt to collect any debt." 15 U.S.C. § 1692f. 
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49. Section 1692g of the FDCPA requires debt collectors to make certain disclosures, 

provide consumers with certain inforniation, and to make such disclosures and provide such 

information within a specific timeframe. See 15 U.S.C. § 1692g(a)(1)-(5). 

50. Here, Defendant was required to identify the name of the creditor to whom the 

Consumer Debt was owed on December 30, 2021 pursuant to 12 C.F.R. § 1006.34(c)(2)(iii). The 

Collection Letter, however, fails to identify the name of the creditor to whom the Consumer debt 

was owed on December 30, 2021, in violation of 12 C.F.R. § 1006.34(c)(2)(iii). 

51. Defendant violated § 1692e of the FDCPA by failing to identify in the Collection 

Letter the name of the creditor to whom the Consumer debt was owed on December 30, 2021, 

because Defendant is reqicired by 12 C.F.R. § 1006.34(c)(2)(iii) to make such an identification in 

the Collection Letter and failing to do so is false, deceptive, and/or otherwise misleading to the 

least sophisticated consumer. 

52. Defendant violated § 1692f of the FDCPA by failing to identify in the Collection 

Letter the name of the creditor to whom the Consumer debt was owed on December 30, 2021, 

because Defendant is required by 12 C.F.R. § 1006.34(c)(2)(iii) to make such an identification in 

the Collection Letter and failing to do so constitutes unfair and/or otherwise unconscionable means 

to collect the Consumer Debt. 

53. Defendant violated § 1692g of the FDCPA by failing to identify in the Collection 

Letter the name of the creditor to whom the Consumer debt was owed on December 30, 2021, 

because Defendant is required by 12 C.F.R. § 1006.34(c)(2)(iii) to make such an identification in 

the Collection Letter. 
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54. As such, by failing to identify in the Collection Letter the name of the creditor to 

whom the Consumer debt was owed on December 30, 2021, Defendant violated § 1006.34(c) of 

Reg F, § 1692e of the FDCPA, § 1692f of the FDCPA, and § 1692g of the FDCPA. 

55. WHEREFORE, Plaintiff requests this Court to enter a judgment against Defendant, 

awarding the following relief: 

(a) Statutory and actual damages as provided by 15 U.S.C. § 1692k; 

(b) Costs and reasonable attorneys' fees pursuant to 15 U.S.C. § 1692k; and 

(c) Any other relief that this Court deems appropriate under the circumstances. 

DATED: September 7, 2022 
Respectfully Submitted, 

/s/ Thomas Patti 
THOMAS PATTI, ESQ. 
Florida Bar No. 118377 
E-mail: Tom@pzlg.legal 
VICTOR ZABALETA, ESQ. 
Florida Bar No. 118517 
E-mail: Victor@pzlg.legal 
PATTI ZABALETA LAW GROUP 
3323 Northwest 55th  Street 
Fort Lauderdale, Florida 33309 
Phone: 561-542-8550 

CO UNSEL FOR PLAINTIFF 
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EXHIBIT "A" 
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P®RTFOLIO RECOVERY ASS®CIATES, LLC 
140 Corporate Blvd. 
Norfolk, VA 23502 
1-800-772-1413 
Mon. to Thurs. 8am - 11 pm, Fri. 8am - 10pm 
Sat. 8am - 7pm 
Sun. 11am - 10pm (ET) 
www.portfoliorecovery.com 

T®: JAS®N GARS®N 
2214 NE 11 TH ST 
HALLANDLE BCH FL 33009-2960 

I 

04/04/2022 

Portfolio Recovery Associates, LLC ("PRA, LLCn) is a debt collector and is the creditor to whom your debt is currently owed. 
We are trying to collect a debt that you previously owed to CITIBANK N.A. and which was sold to PRA, LLC by CITIBANK N:A. 
We will use any information you give us to help collect the debt. 

Oaar Iraformatiion Shows: sNow can you disoute the detp₹? 

You had a WAWA account from 

 

® Call or write to aas by 05/19/2022, to dispute all or 
CITIBANK N.A. 

 

part of the debt. If you do not, we will assume that our 
with Account Number: 7825820007458994 in₹ormation is correct. 

As of 12/30/2021, you owed: $748•23 ® If y®u vsrite to us by 05/'19/2022, we must stop 
Between 12/30/2021 and the date of this letter: collection on any amount you dispute until we send you 
You were charged this amount in interest: $0.00 information that shows you owe the debt. You may use 

  

the form below or write to us without the form.. You may 
You were charged this amount in fees: $0.00 also include supporting documents. 

You paid or were credited this amount 

 

What else can vou do? 
toward the debt: $0.00 

 

Total amount o₹ the debt now: $748.23 ® V!lrate to as1C for the narrae arad address of the 

  

origanal creditor, if different frora the caarrent creatitor: 

  

If you write by 05/19/2022, we must stop collection unt'il 

  

we send you that inforrnation. You may use the form 

  

below or write to us without the form. 

® Go to www;cfub.gov/debt-collection to learn anore 
about your raghts aander fesleral law. For instance, you 
have the right to stop or limit how we contact you. 

® Contact us about your payment options. 
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This oommunication is from a debt col0ector and is.an atternpt to collect a debt. 

Any iraformation obtainee9 uvili ba usad f®r that purpoae: 

Notice:  See reverse side for irraportarat ir~formatioru. 001 
----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

How cfo y+ou want to respons9? 
Check all that apply. 

❑ . i warat to. dispute the debt because i ti•aaink: 

DEPT 922 
❑ 'This is not my debt. 

PO BOX 4115 
❑ The amount is uurong. 

CONCORD CA 94524 ❑ Other (please describe on reverse or attach 
additional information). 

❑ 9 waret yoas to send me the rsame araci address 

af tEae oragirtai creditor. 

CHANGE SERVICE REQUESTED ~'ergclo sed >tFtis amoP.9nt: $ 1 

e I 9® .e o e oig a oaile oa 11 a lot , el a Make y,our check payable to Portfolio Recovery 

illaCiii~l!'~~IIi0iI9~ilqgllia 0ei~~yli 8ol 6~ldli tai9~(i~i0isg~,iil~a Associates, LLC. Include the Account Number: 

7825820007458994 

JASON GARSON 6UIaiD $his torrra to: 
2214 NE 11TH 5T Porlfolio Recovery Associates, LLC 

HALLANDLE BCH FL 33009-2960 140 Corporate Blvd. 
Norfolk, VA 23502 

L010047D28 
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